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THE TRAMWAYS OF GLOUCESTERSHIRE
A~ BRIEF HISTORY

A.E.FIELDER

INTROLUSTION

The first tremwsys were introduced into Britain in 1860
by George Francis Train, but were generally short lived
because of the step-rall which, when badly laid, projec-
ted above the level of the road eurface, These rails
provided a wide, flat surfaece a little below road level
which could be used by ordinsry traffic and the stepped
up pert of the rall to accomodate the flanged wheels of
the tramcar. :

The first applications to Parlisment for authority to

lgy tramways were passed in the 1860's using the grooved
reil and bhis was followed by the 1870 Tramways Act which
was passed in an attempt by the Board of Trade to both
encourage and control tramway promotion: although this
saved the expense of each Company promoting its own Act
and having it debated in Parliament, clause by clause,

it did have its disadvantages. The locsl authority still
had the right to veto lines and to compulsorily purchase
the undertaking after 21 years but it did not give the
local authority powers to operate tramways themselves.
The tramway company was required. to build the line
within two yeers and to maintain the road for 18 inches
on either side of the tracks and to pay full rates,

Tramway progress was further encouraged by the paseing
of the "Use of Mechanical Power on Tramwsys Act, 1879"
permitting the general use of steam traction. Prior to
this, mechanical tracticn had only been allowed
experimentally on a short term licence from the Board of
Trade. -

Finally came the Light Railways Act of 1896. This was
administered by the Board of Trade and Lizht Railway
Comissioners and saved the necessity of obtaining
Parlimentary approval. The Company now had five years



to build the line =nd only psid one-quarter rates,. This
Act stimulated tramway promotion and tLhe majority ol
powers sought after 1896 were obtained under this Act.

BRISTOL TRAMWAYS CO. LTD.

The first proposals to construct tramways in the City
were made in 1865, but it was not until 1871 that the
Corporation obtained the necessary powers and commenced
to lay standard guage tracks between the top of Colston
Street and Redland. Siunce the Corporation had no powers
to actually operate trams the Bristol Tramways Co. Ltd.
was formed in 1&74 Lo lease and work the line. The
Company also obtained powers to construct lines and the
first public service commenced on 9th. August, 1875,
All lines, apart from the Redland route were owned by
ghelgggpany and this was purchased from the Corporation
n ! . :

The Company's zeneral msnager from 1875 to 1782 wus

Mr J. Clifton Robinson who was to return to the City in
the 1890's und plsy an important part in the development
of the electric tramways.

Rolling stock consisted of some 70 cars of meinly
double~deck, open top construction operating from six
depots. In 1877 experiments were tried with steanm
traction and in 1880 eight steam engines were hired and
operated from Whitson Street depot and were used on the
Horfield and Redland routes. They do not appear to have
been too successful since they were returned to the
manufacturers in the following year. - The trailer cars
pulled by the steam enzines had canopies over the top
deck and were therefore the only trams with covered
upper decks to operate in Gloucestershire. The canopiles
were removed on the cessation of steam traction.

On the lst October 1887, the Company merged with the

Bristol Cab. Co, Ltd to form the Eristol Tramways &
Carriage Co. Itd.

BRISTOL TRAMWAYS & CARRIAGE CO.LTL.

This Company continned to expand the horse btram =system,
even opening new lines for horse traction after the
comnmencement of electric tramways in other parts of bthe
City. In 1893 the City's central area wes greatly
improved by the replacement of the Drawbridze scross the
inner harbour by a permanent bridge and the inner dock
filled in to form Colston Avenune and the Tramways Centre.



Route mileage now totalled some 17miles opersated by
approximately 100 cars snd 500 horses from the six
existing depots and one new one at Ashley Down,

By 1890, the growing area of Kingswood was needing better
communications with Bristol but the hills were considered
too steep for horse trams whilst there was insufficient
traffic for a cable tramway. The Compeny was now, with
the Gloucester Tramways Co., a subsidiary of the Imperial
Tramways Company (Formed 1878) and who's maneging director
wag the J,.Clifton Robinson mentioned earlier, It was his
influence, with that of Mr George White, managing director
of the Bristol Tramways, that persuaded the Company to
obtain powers to construct the line toXingsewol as an
electric tramway. It was a bold decision to take since at
this time (1891) there were only a handful of electric
tramways in the country, none of which nperated under city
conditions., Electrification commenced in 1895 and public
services were commenced on the l4th October of that year
between 0ld Market and Kingswood. . :

The new tramwsgy was an immediate success and electrific-
ation of the entire horse tramway system and the constru-
ction of new lines commenced. These works were virtually
complete by early 1901, the only lines opened after that
date being the extensions to Filton ( 1907) and Westbury-
on-Trym (1908). The last horse trams were withdrawn on
22nd December, 1900.

Route milesze now totalled 31 miles of standerd zusse
tramway, the majority of which was double track -~ the
only lengthy sections of single track with passing loops
being eastwards from St., George to Kingswood cnd Hanham,
Nearly 8 miles of route were situated outside the Bristol
City Boundary.

George White bhad namerous other business interests and
following visits to France in 1910 became convinced

that the transport of the future would be the aseroplane.
With this iu mind he established the Bristol and Colonial
Aeronlane Co. Ltd.{later Bristol Aeroplane Zo.Ltd.) at
the Filton Ltramway lerminus so that the Tramway Company
would benefit from the ¢crowds who were expected to come
to witness the flyiny demonstrations,

A further ?7%miles of line were authorised in 1904 ané in
1920 a proposel was made to construct 4 miles of line from
Hotwells %o Avonmouth, partly on reserved track alcagside
the new road under construction along the nortl hank

of the River Avon, None of these lines were ever built,

With the exception of Colston Strect und Victoria Street,
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Zetland Road in 1911, On the riszht is the
RPishopston branch of the Bristol Trunways .

and Carriage Company. Reproduced from
"Bristol A-Z" by Mex Barnes,by kind permission
of The Bristol Bvening Post.

all the horse tram depots were converted for the electric
cars. In addition new depots were huilt uaf Staple Hill
end Brislinston, the latter holding 4€ cars hesides having
extensive workshops., The Whitson Street depot was only
used for maintainarce purposes,

The services opsrated evolvéd from the f{ormer horse
tramways. Various methods of rcute identification were
triedincluding coloured boards and lights, route letiers
and finslly route numbers. The latter were introduced in
November 1913 hut had fallen out of use by the mid 1920'e,
the destination only being shown thereafter, At their
naximum there were seventeen services, althouzh some of
these were only short-workings, and they are shown on the
attached plan.




The rclling stock was all of basically the sume deusign.
All cars were four-wheel, double deck and open top
seating 53 persons. They remained virtuslly unchanged
throughout their lives., At the time of the opening of
the Westbury-on-Trym extension the fleet consisted of

232 cars, all built by Messrs. G.F.Milnes &% Co., of
Birkenhead or their sub contractors. In 1920 a further
six cars were constructed, this time by the Company
itself, bringing the passenger car fleet to a maximum

of 2%27. (One of the original cars had been converted

to a works car). A livery of dark blue and ivory, lined
out in gold, was used and the fleet number was conspicuo-
usly displayed at each end. In addition to the passenger
cars there were two snowploughs and they were joined later
by two rail grinders converted from passenger cars.

Cn the lst January, 1950 the Company became a subsidiary
of the Creat Western Railway Company. This arrangement
was short lived since the G.W¥,R. transferred its share-
holdinygs to the Western National Omnibus Company in
December, 1931, the Bristol Tramways thereby becoring
part of the Thomas Tilling Group.

The Compuny's difficulties were mainly brought about
through the workings of the 1870 Tramways Act. The
Corporation nad th2 right to purchase the tramweys in
1915 and every seventh year thereafter with the result
that vhe Ccomeny war not inclined bto embark upon
modernication schemes involving heavy capital expenditure.
Most oither cities the size of Bristol had municipalised
thelr tramways at the turn of the century and had built
up moidern fleets of csrs which contbtrasted with the
antiquated cwpen top cars in Bristol., It is no wonder
that the Corporstion exercised its 1036 option to parchase
the trsmway< with a view to their abandonment.

BRISTOL CORPORATICN

Brictol Corporaticn assumed ownerehlp ov July 30th, 1977,
A joint Com~jktee wes Torwed weprescnbing the Coppnratior
and the Company w~ith the latter conbticueing to opersts
the tranways on behalf of the Corporstion until their
abandonment,

Tne first liner were closed in May, 1932 and by the
outbresk ¢f the second world war only the lines eastwards
from O1ld Market to Kingswood and Hanhsm snd southwards

from Bristol Bridze to Lshbon Gute and Bedminster Down
were still running. The war reprieved the trams for a
while but the 'blitz' caused serious dumaze and dislocation
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of services, This culminated in a bomb severinz the
main supply cables linking the power station to the

trems on the 1llth April, 1941,

SUMMARY OF OPENING AND CLOSING DATES OF LINES IN BRISTOL

OPENING DATE

HORSE
9.8.1875

4e12.1875
- 6. 18?6
- 641876

9.1876
9.1876
10.1876

4.1879

11,1879
2k.6.1880

ELECTRLC
5.12. 1900
5e 12+ 1900
14,10.1895
1.2.1897
22.12.1900
22.12.1900
14,10,1895
13.7.1899
13.7.1899

22.12.1900

17.11.1880 22.12.19C0

18.11.1880 22.12.1300

- 4,1881 13.7.1899

- "".1881 13.7.1899

1.1.1888
- 1892
- 1892
- 1892
- 1892
-~ 1896
- 1898
- 1898

?

22.12.1900
14.10.1895
22.12.1900
- 1910
22.12.1900
22.12.1900
13.7.1899
22.12.1900

22.12.1900

King David Inn-Whiteladies Road

(Apsley Road)

King David Inn-Tramways Centre

0l1d Market-Clarence Rd/Trinity Rd

Clarence Road/Trinity Road -
Eastville

King David Inn-Horsefair

Horsefair-Broadmead-Old Market

Clarence Road/Trinity Road -
St George (Church)

Bristol Bridge (North Side)-
Victoria St-Bath Bridge

Bath Bridge-Totterdown (Three
Lamps)

Tramways Centre-Hotwells (Dowry
Square)

Bristol Bridge-Bedminster Bdg.-
Bedminster(Cannon St)

The trams ran no rore,

CLOSING
DATE

7.5.1938
7541938
1.4.1941
3.9.1938
7.5.1938
15.7.1939 .
11.4.1941
3.9.1938
3.9.1938
7.5.1938

3,1.1941

Horsefair-Stokes Croft - Gloucester

Rd (Egerton Rd)

Bristol Bridge-Bath Street-0ld
Market

Bristol Bridge-Baldwin Street -
Tramways Centre

Tramways Centre-Horsefair

St George (Church) - Kingswood

Gloucester Road (Egerton Rd)-
Horfield (Ashley Down kd)

Line Along City Road from Stokes
Croft to Brigstocke Rd

City Road (Brigstocke Rd) -
Ashley Road (Sussex Place)

Bedminster (Cannon St) - Ashton
Gate

Totterdown (Three Lamps) - Arno's
Vale

Ashley Road (Sussex P1) - Lower
Ashley Rd-Stapleton Road

Bedminster (Cannon St)-Bedminster
Down

15.7.1939
3.1.1941
3.9.1938
P10
15.7.1939
3.9.1938
3.9.1938
3e1.1941
3.9.1938
3.9.1938
3.1.1941



23

OPENING DATE CLOSING
HORSE . ELECTRIC DATE

- 28.9.1897 Eastville~Fishponds (Full Moon) 3.9.1938
- 6.11.1897 Fishponds (Full Moon) - Staple Hill 3.9.1938
- 5.12.1900 Whiteladies Road (Apsley Road) -

Durdham Downs 7+5.1938
- 22.12.1900 Horfield (Ashley Down Road) -

Horfield Barracks 15.7.1939
- 22.12.1900 Chelternham Road-Zetland Road -~

Redland Road-Durdham Downs 15.7.1939
- 22.12.1900 St James Barton - Portland Square -

City Road 3.9.1938
- 22.12.1900 Arno's Vale ~ Brislington 3.9.1938
- 22.12.1900 Totterdown (Three Lamps) -~ Knowle

(Broadfield Road) 3.9.1938
- 22.1 2.1900 St George - Nags Head Hill - Hanham 11.4.1941
- 22.12.1900 Hotwells (Dowry Square) - Avon Gorge

Terminus 7+5.1938
- 28.3.1901 Line Along Barrs St From Merchant

5t to St James Barton 15.7.1939
- 21.3.19C7? Horfield Barracks - Filton (Church) 15.7.1939
- 16.9.1908 Durdham Downs - Westbury Road - :

Whitetree 7.5.1938
- 28.10,1908 White Tree ~ Westbury on Trym

(Fountain) 7.5.1938

NOTE: Slightly Varying Opening Dates are shown in different
sources of reference,
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SUMMARY OF OPENING AND CLOSING DATES OF LINES _
OPENING DATE CLOSING DATE

22.8.1901 Centre-St Georges Rd-Lansdown Stn-
Lansdown Castle 31.12.1930
22.8.1901 Centre-Prestbury-Southam-Cleeve Hill 3.1930

28.3.1905 Centre-London Rd-Six Ways~Charlton Kings Stn31.12.1930
28.3.1905 High St (Junction)-Bath Rd-Leckhampton

(Charlton Lne) 3.1930
28.3.1905 Loop Line along Lower High St and Ambrose St31.12.1930
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Charlton Kingg in 1905, bringing the roube wiluze up Lo
ite maximum of 1C. 22 nmiles,

Consequent u,on the Cleeve Hill sccldent, passengars wepe
not sllowed to travel on the top deck whilet Che~ car was
on the hill end the two single-~deck cers were used at
busy timee to carry excess passengers.,

It is interesting bthat the Cleeve Hill coute was the {irst
te be built, slithough it wa: probably the Compuny's
intention to ultimutely extead the line %o Winch:zombe wud
sugrests that the proprietors thouzht the tourist trade to
be more Tuc ‘ative then the day to day businews of Lhe
town. Beyond Prestbury the line ran on a reservel track
cn the side of the road end over hhis sectiow the cornpuay
opereted s purcel delivery sarvice.

In 1914, the Coupany comz under the conteol of the 3Ballour
Beatty Group #ho operuted trvumwmays in a numher of oluer
towns.

Apurt from the one-wagy ucheme tn “he tow: cealre, Lhe
longest «tre~tsh of double track was feom Chu-lienhun
J011e'e b 0 crhpsy gnd by fhe lake 1920« teafflic con -
‘3“(‘1)" v an b‘-? oming 4 problem znd replaceaqcat of ti {reas
Ly trolleybuses was seriously coasidered in l“’-~).

This was nol proceeded +ith and the trams wees 77011y
repluced by buses in 1230,bthe last cars running o 3lst

December,

The colliay stock coasi-ted of 25 c=rs. The Jviest £
were of fmerlcan menulacture zod relflectad Lhm nebionc iy
of the promoter, Th-= next 12 ~czpe, whizh Lncladed Lyao
sinsle=dezkers woere bullb hetween 1307 :rnd 1"“5 tr the
Glournester Rallway Coheringe T Yizon Co, Tn 1201 fooen
cars ~vere purchased (row the Enmlt‘b Blectri.c Jomv-ny
anid it is one of thess (Yo 21) Thot has leern ceucvebod
and iz now at the Celeh Tramwdv Musenm, The Ilinzl
additions ceme in 1922 vhen two second-hund ~ers iere
purzhased [roo Wor:ester Tramwwnrs, All ‘cars vepe foap-
wheeleps snd the dcuble decker« were gll open toppars,
They were peinted ¢ plain derk red at Ciprst it Lhis »us
replaced by u brighter red gnd cream lutec,

Three basic servicez weve operated and ulthough roite
nunters were not used they are indicated Tty ihd auanbers
1 b0 % on the attached plan. (see previmie psze),

¢
.
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GLOUCESTER TRAMWAYS CO. LTD.

o
3

Proposals to construct horse tromwurs within the City
Floucester were first made in 1877 snd the Gloucester
Tramways Co. Ltd, was formed as & subsidiary of the
Imperial Tramways Company. Its promoter wss Mr Feorge
White who therefore brought it under the mame control ss
the Bristol Tramways. .

The necessary powers under the 1870 Tranways Act were
obtained in 1878 to build 3.58 route miles of tramway.

Of this, 3%.36 miles were actually built and public services
appear toc have commenced on all lines on 24th Mgy, 1879.

Unfortunately the Company was not & Tinancial success and
by the middle of 1881 the two lines from The Crours Lo '
St Nicholas Church and from Bastgate Street to Lhe Stationg
had fallen into disuse. In July 1881 bthe Compuny was
re-formed as the City of Gloucester Tramways Co., Lid.,

but still retaining ite links with George White anl the
Imperial Tramways Co., Ltd. _

The gauze chosen was the unusnal one of 4Tt but bthis was
changed to the more conventional 3Lt. Sin. when the lines
were reconstructed for electric¢ traction in 1903/C4.

Initially the rolling stock consisted of six cars but this
was graduslly increased to thirteen. All cars were single-
deckers, the first six were supplied by two manuflscturers
and the remaining seven by bthe Gloucester Rullway Turciage
& Wagon Co.

The Company's depot and stables were éituated in India
Road off Barton Straet,

CITY OF GLOUCESTER TRAMWAYS CO. ITD.

Outwardly there was little ch&nge from Lhe Gloucester
Tramways Co., Ltd. The Westgate Street and Stations roules
were not re-opened but in 1897 a short extension was open-
ed taking the line further alonz the Bristol Road to
Tuffley Avenue, ' ' '

It appesars as though the Company traded profitably for the
rolling stock wos incressed to 14 cars operetins not only
from the India Road depot but slso from a new »ne in
Bristol Road. .

In 1899, the Company epplied for powers wilthout the uppro-
val of Gloucester Corporation, Lo reconstcuct the existing
horse tramways bto 37t.6in. guage and %o build new lines,



28

altogether Lotallingzg 7.08 miles snd to change over fo
"electric traction., A4Although the COrporafion s right of
purchase under the 1870 Act did not arise until 1911,
negotlations took place for an early purchese and for

the electric tramwsy powers to be transfered o the
Corporation., Terms were finally azreed and ownership

was transferred on 30th September, 19072, but the

Company continned to operate the horseé tramways on behalf
of the Corporstion until the end of that yeur,

GLOUCKSTER TORPCRATICN LTGHT RAILWAYS

The Corporation essumed full control of the norse Lre u~
ways on lebt Junwary, 1903, and operated the trams theu-
selves, gradus’ly withdrewing them as elwctrification
work proceeded, The lasb horse trams ran on 17th Mdr"h,
1904 and the Zity was without proper publis trensport for
nearly two months until bthe electric truavays oommenned
in May.

Transfer of powers from the City of Gloucester Trumwuye
Co. Ltd. wes cemplizated by the facl thst one of the

lines ran oubtside Lhe City Boundary. Tt was PGSOLved by
the 3loucester Counby Couneil asssuminU regpousibility

for the line from the City Boundary btc Eicclezote, thareby
becoming one of only six counties in the British Tileg fo
own tramweys. The Counbty Coancil constructed bthe line wnd
leased it to Lhe Corporsbtion for tramway -—peration,

Electric services commenced on all JTinew or. 7th M=y,1304,
The only extensions wers made iz 1917 wh»' traok teken
from the diruced Vestoake Bridge line wze nged Lo build
reserved track extension frowm chcleoob-.lo the Brockworth
Aircreft Facltory. AL the sune time a shool liane wos laid
from London Road Lo the eastern entrance to the 3.%.R.
Reilway Station.

The total route milsge was 9.74 (7.05 wilere - Torpiration
lines snd 2,589 miles - Counby Council lines). an extersion
was aathorised for a line Lo contious glons Eraine Streesl
to the Cross Hends where it +0411d heve joilned the propoved
Streud snd District Company's line from Stroud to “hulb-
ephan, Bsd trhis come aboub it would Hove been poesible
to beavel by tram from Gloucester to Chelbeniiam but ibL i
doubtful whether Shurdington would now b2 the villxze 1b
is today.

In comparison to other towns of similar ¢ ize, Gloucester
had a larse proportion of double btrack - the lines to
Bristol Road, Tuffley via Scuthgate Street, Fingholr sad
Wotton being almost entirely so laid. The Count; Council
lines were almost entirely single btrack with psssing loops.
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SUMMARY OF OPENING AND CLOSING DATES OF LINES
OPENING DATE CLOSING
HORSE ELECTRIC . _ DATE
24.5.1879 7.5.1904  The Cross-Southgate St-Bristol Rd
(Theresa P1) ; 11.1.1933
24,5.1879 7.5.1904  The Cross-London Rd-Wotton(Fleece) 11.1.1933
24.5.1879 - The Cross-Westgate St-StNicholas Ch - 1881
24.%.1879 7.5.1904  'The Cross-Eastgate St-India Rd 7.9.1929
2k.5.1879 7.5.,1904  Northgate St Junction-Kingsholm 7.9.1929
9.6.1879 - sastgate St Junction-Clarence St -
Stations - 1881
10.7.1897 7.5.1904 Bristol RdA(Theresa Pl)-Bristol
Ra (T:ffley Ave) 11.1.1933
- 74501904 The Cross-Westgate St-Westgate Br 12.8.1917
- 7+5.1904 India Rd-Painswick Rd-Cemetary Rd 7.9.1929
- 7+5.1904 Wotton(Fleece)~Hucclecote (Church-
down Lane) 0 11.1.1933
- 7.54904  Southgate St Junction-Stroud Rd-
Tredworth Junction - 1927
- 7.5.1904 Barton Gates -~ Park End Rd-Tredworth
Junction 7.9.1929
- 7+5.1904 Tredworth Junc-Stroud Rd-Tuffley 7.9.1929
- ~ 1917 Hucclecote (Churchdown Lane)-
Brockworth (Victoria Inn) 1.10.1924
- - 1917 Branch from Ermine St To Brockworth
Aerodrome ' 1.10.1924

London Rd Junc-GWR Station(East Side) 7
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The depot for the 2lectric cars wuas the formes hopee
trem dapnb in the Bristol Road, Ehe India Read premices
being %losed. : -

As nmenticned above the iret ahandonment cwme in 3017
end this was [ollowed by s grsdual closice of bhe
system Jdaring the 1220's. The last line (Rrigtol Rors.l
to Hucclecote) was closed on 11th Januzry, 1332 heing
replaced at first by Corporation buses.

Rolling stock coneisted of 3C four-wheel, dcuble-d=ck,
open-top cars built by the Brush Compsuy ab Louzhbrough.
At liprst the livery was crimson lake nud craam bat
during the Pirst World War this was changed to zrey
which remgined until the closure of the system., Tn
addition there war a2 works car and a namher of zZoods
wagons used to Lransport gooads from GloucesbLer Shation
to Brockworth Aerodrome. AL their maximam, four tasi-
services were opersted., Althouzh route numbers were
not, used they are indicated by th? numhers 1 to 4 on
the attahed plan., After 1914 the section of Struud
Road from Southute Street to Tredworth Junction w:
not in resular use. '

STROUD 4ND DISTRICT TRALMNAYC COMPANY

Another of the promotions of Mr Thomas Nevins of
Cheltenham, Tt was formed at the turn oi° Lhe century

to construct 24 route miles of tramwsys, the neces ary
Powers being obitained in 1903 to baild 15% miles linking
Chalford, Kailsworbth, Dudbridge Station, Stonehouse #und
Painswick, It was intended that iLhe latbter line should
continue through Brockworth to Chnrlbenham where it wo.ld
have linked up with Mr Nevin's other Company. Tt is
hard to see how this route could have paid its way .
since even by 1909 the bus service over this coad between
Stroud and Cheltenham r«n on only two dsys 3 week.

CONCLUSION

The foresolng is uo more than wo oublline ol “he history
of each Zompany. The nost useful debtailed hook on the
subject is "The Tramways of the West of Enzlind" by
P.R.Gentry, first published in 1952. 4 ore recent
book "Bristol's Trams Remembered" by John B, Appleby
amplifies many aspects of the Bristol tramways,

Copyrisht, A.E.Fielder. 1773,
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